## Human Rights Situation Report January 2025



Unemployed graduates in the Northern Province, drawing attention to their ongoing struggle for employment while dressed in their graduation cloaks, the protesters carried broomsticks and swept the streets as a symbolic gesture of their plight, qualified graduates forced into menial tasks due to a lack of job opportunities. Source: Tamilwin.



Repression of Dissent in Sri Lanka in September 2024. Published in November 2024. © INFORM Human Rights Documentation Centre Colombo, Sri Lanka https://www.inform.lk/

INFORM was established in 1990 to monitor and document the human rights situation in Sri Lanka, especially in the context of the ethnic conflict and war, and to report on the situation through written and oral interventions at the local, national and international levels. INFORM also focused on working with other communities whose rights were frequently and systematically violated. Currently, INFORM focuses on election monitoring, freedom of expression and human rights defenders. INFORM is based in Colombo Sri Lanka, and works closely with local activists, groups and networks as well as regional (Asian) and international human rights networks.

#### Contents

1. Executive Summary	4
2. Rights of Refugees	9
3. Freedom of Assembly and Association	12
4. Legal Reforms	15
5. Political Prisoners	17
6. Repression of Media and Journalists	19
7. Land Rights of Tamil	21
8. Student-led Protests	23
9. Repressive Laws	25
10. Police Brutality	26
11. Families of the Forcefully Disappeared	27
12. Local Government Election	28
13. Easter Sunday Attacks	29
14. Accountability for Past War Crimes	30
15. Mass Graves	30
16. MP Privilege Violation of Tamil MP	30
17. Questionable Government Appointments	31
18. Protests against Sinhalization	31
19. Digital NIC	31
20. State Accountability	32
21. Other	33
References	35

#### 1. Executive Summary

**Refugees:** Sri Lanka's Public Security Minister, Ananda Wijepala, has announced a plan to send 100,000 illegal migrants, including Rohingya refugees, to the country. The Rohingyas have been linked to human trafficking, and over 100 currently held in Mullaitivu will be deported if they are determined that they were victims of human trafficking. Protests against the government's decision to deport Rohingya refugees have emphasized the potential harm to the country's international reputation and the need for refugees to be relocated from the Keppapulavu Air Force Base. Activists have urge international refugee standards and laws, and the Batticaloa Farmers' Federation has condemned deportation of Rohingya refugees in Sri Lanka. These protests have also call on UNHCR to put pressure on other nations to offer sanctuary.

**Freedom of Assembly and Association:** Recent events have demonstrated the government's involvement in protests through legal actions, court orders, and police actions. The CID's summons of Yartan Figurado in relation to the Rohingya asylum protest reveal a pattern of government efforts to suppress protests on controversial or sensitive issues. The disruption of a Tamil political prisoners' release campaign in Sri Lanka highlights tensions between ethnic groups and the state's approach to curbing movements challenging laws. The police's actions in Northern province indicate a push to suppress campaigns challenging the status quo, particularly those addressing controversial issues like ethnic minority rights. The University of Peradeniya cancelled a lecture on IMF austerity, despite approval, indicating direct or indirect government influence over academic spaces. Prime Minister Dr. Harini Amarasuriya denied involvement, stating she supports academic freedom and democratic engagement. However, the cancellation raises concerns about limitations on academic freedom. The 2021 protest against the General Sir John Kotelawala National Defence University Bill, led by IUSF, CTU, and FSP, saw the release of 34 individuals, including Joseph Stalin, despite earlier arrests under quarantine regulations.

Former IUSF convener Lahiru Weerasekara and Bhikkhu Federation convener Tampitiye Sugathananda Thero were acquitted in a 2017 protest against SAITM University, indicating an improvement in dissent space and a judicial system's protection of peaceful assembly rights. Cabinet Spokesman Dr. Nalinda Jayatissa acknowledged challenges in cases against Aragalaya individuals and promised government intervention. Justice Minister is set to discuss with Attorney General, committed to equitable resolutions based on merits. **Legal Reforms:** The Anti-Corruption Act No. 9 of 2023 faced challenges in enforcement due to legal, interpretative, and technical issues. The Commission to Investigate Allegations of Bribery or Corruption suggested amendments and new provisions. A committee was established to review the Act and make recommendations. The Women Parliamentarians' Caucus of Sri Lanka addressed legislative reforms to establish a uniform legal minimum marriage age and redefining 'child' to meet international standards. The Ministry of Environment discussed a Bill protecting the rights of Sri Lanka's indigenous community. The Cabinet of Ministers approved the publication of the Proceeds of Crime Draft Bill, aligning with the UN Convention against Corruption and the International Financial Action Task Force's standards on asset recovery.

**Political Prisoners:** The call for the release of Tamil political prisoners has gained momentum among Tamil leaders, civil society, and activists. They have urged President Anura Kumara Dissanayake to address the issue of Tamil political prisoners, and Tamil political parties and civil society groups have demanded their release by the Sinhala Hindu New Year. Critics have criticized past leaders, governments, and MPs for failing to take action and addressing the long-standing issue of Tamil political prisoners.

A signature campaign has been launched to demand the release of around 400 Tamil political prisoners, many of whom have been held for over 15 years since the end of the war. The campaign aimed to collect 100,000 signatures from various districts, with protests and petitions taking place in various locations. The government's slow action on the issue has sparked frustration.

**Repression of Media and Journalists:** Journalists in Sri Lanka face threats, including attacks and legal cases, for reporting sensitive topics like corruption and human rights abuses. The government has shown willingness to take punitive actions against media outlets, warning them of misleading the public. This highlights concerns over the use of legal tools to silence or control journalists, particularly in regions with ethnic minorities. Despite supporting media freedom, the government emphasizes the need for accountability and threats to take action against media outlets spreading malicious news.

Civil society organizations and international bodies have called for stronger protections for journalists and media outlets in Sri Lanka. They urge the police to swiftly investigate incidents of journalist assault, reopen investigations into past violence, cessation of harassment, and the establishment of an independent media commission. Ethical journalism is also a priority.

Land Rights of Tamils: President Anura Kumara Dissanayake has pledged to resolve a long-standing land dispute in the Northern Province, focusing on returning land to its rightful owners and ensuring alternative land for those affected by government acquisitions. He also promised projects that benefit local communities, such as repurposing the Jaffna President's House. Trincomalee MP Kathiravelu Shanmugam Kukathasan requested the release of lands around Kaliamman Temple and raised concerns over land rights in the Fourth Continent. A petition demanding the release of land in Deravil, Kilinochchi, and the Martyrs' homeland in Vishwamadu, as well as the release of agricultural land, has been successful.

**Student-led Protests:** In January 2025, student protests at Jaffna University and Sri Lanka Bhikkhu University highlighted their ongoing struggles for fair treatment, freedom of expression, dissent, and fundamental rights. Students at Jaffna University launched a hunger strike demanding an end to unjust investigations and the right to free expression. Sri Lanka Bhikkhu University students protested the Vice-Chancellor's mismanagement and the government's privatization plan of state hospitals. These protests demonstrate their demand for greater autonomy, transparency, and accountability in academic and administrative affairs.

**Repressive Laws:** Leader of the House, Bimal Ratnayake, has urged the government to repeal the controversial PTA law and replace it with a new Anti-Terrorism Act (ATA) that aligns with international human rights standards. Justice Minister Harshana Nanayakkara is preparing a cabinet paper for reform. The European Union's Election Observation Mission has praised Sri Lanka's 2024 Presidential Election for transparency and democratic process, but urged for the repeal of restrictive laws. The EU EOM also recognized reforms in campaign finance and youth inclusion.

**Police Brutality:** The 1997 Tip Line, introduced by the Sri Lanka Police, aims to report crimes like drug trafficking and organized crime, but faces trust issues due to police abuse and corruption. Reports show misconduct by officers, such as sexual harassment, suspensions, and negligence. Physical abuse and unlawful detentions have also been reported, highlighting the need for improved crime prevention and national security.

Officers in Sri Lanka are often accused of impunity, leading to detainee abuse and critical reporting omissions. The Weligama man's case highlights the vulnerability of citizens under police authority, reflecting public dissatisfaction and a desire for accountability.

**Families of the Forcefully Disappeared:** The Mullaitivu District Association of Relatives of the Enforced Disappeared in Sri Lanka is urging for justice. They plan a protest in Kilinochchi for Independence Day and held a protest in Vavuniya demanding justice for their loved ones. Protesters call on the United Nations and the US administration to address their concerns and raise awareness for Tamil sovereignty.

Local Government Elections: Sri Lanka's Local Government Elections, delayed since 2018, are set to take place in April 2025. The government, led by President Anura Kumara Dissanayake, has announced the election, with the Supreme Court's verdict expected to be announced in Parliament. The Provincial Council Elections will be decided after the elections. The Supreme Court has reviewed petitions challenging the constitutionality of the Local Authorities Elections Special Provisions Bill, which proposed fresh nominations for local authorities.

**Easter Sunday Attacks:** The Supreme Court has overturned the acquittal of former IGP Pujith Jayasundara and former Defence Secretary Hemasiri Fernando in the Easter Sunday attacks case, annulling the previous judgment due to insufficient evidence and lack of defense witnesses.

The Catholic Church of Sri Lanka has urged for a thorough investigation into the alleged hand grenade incident at All Saints Church in Borella, marking its third anniversary.

Accountability for Past War Crimes: Human Rights Watch reported Sri Lanka's crises are linked to persistent rights violations, discrimination against minority communities, and silencing critics. President Dissanayake has the opportunity to make progress, but must address past conflicts and abuses.

**Mass Graves:** Sri Lanka's largest mass grave investigations in Mannar and Thiruketheeswaram have yielded over 150 boxes of skeletal remains, with 27 skeletons identified and further reports expected within six months. Exhumation work has been resumed at Colombo port site as well.

**Questionable Appointments:** The President appointed Ruwan Wanigasooriya as Chief of National Intelligence, despite his history of denying war crimes despite evidence of mass civilian casualties and sexual violence. As the Army spokesperson has dismissed allegations of cluster

bombing, child execution, and opposes Tamil remembrance activities, justifying military land occupation, and supporting nationalist narratives.

**Protest against Sinhalization:** Residents of Verugal, Trincomalee are protesting against the Department of Archaeology's designation of the "1 KM Vattavan Archaeological Zone," fearing it could lead to Sinhalization, land displacement, and increased militarization. They have submitted a memorandum demanding transparency, bans on Buddha statues and temple construction, and protection of agricultural lands.

**Digital NIC:** Sri Lanka is set to launch a Digital ID Project with India, modeled after India's Aadhaar Card system. The project aims to introduce electronic national identity cards for administrative and financial purposes. Critics argue that this could threaten national security, public safety, and sovereignty. Sri Lankan Minister Eranga Weeraratne assures Indian personnel and companies no access to biometric data. Activists remain skeptical, as India is funding half of the project.

**State Accountability:** The government has approved compensation for 17 patients who lost their vision after cataract surgeries at Nuwara Eliya Hospital due to substandard drug use, and is pursuing legal action against the supplier.

**Other:** Bodu Bala Sena General Secretary Galagoda Aththe Gnanasara Thero was sentenced to nine months of simple imprisonment and a Rs. 1,500 fine for a 2016 defamatory statement, deemed to incite ethnic disharmony, and reportedly he plans to appeal.

The Sri Lankan Supreme Court has ended proceedings in a Fundamental Rights petition against Pastor Jerome Fernando, alleging hate speech and money laundering. The petitioners filed a lawsuit under the ICCPR Act, but the court assured that further complaints could be considered before a final determination. The petitioners also expressed dissatisfaction with the Criminal Investigation Department's handling of the case.

Members of the Association of Leasing and Debt Instalment Payers protested outside Colombo Police Headquarters, accusing the police of enabling illegal vehicle seizures. Held on January 31, the demonstration called for presidential intervention to stop the confiscations (Daily Mirror, 2025).

## 2. Rights of Refugees

According to intelligence inputs, there is a plot to send 100,000 illegal migrants, including Rohingya refugees, to Sri Lanka in the near future, Public Security Minister Ananda Wijepala stated in Parliament. In addition to confirming that police investigations showed the newly arrived Rohingyas had paid substantial sums to human traffickers, he called this a significant social issue (Siriwardana & Perera, 2025). More than 100 Rohingya people who are presently being held in Mullaitivu will be deported if it is determined that they were the victims of a human trafficking scheme, according to a statement released by Sri Lanka's Public Security Ministry. While discussions with Myanmar are ongoing, Wijepala emphasized that Sri Lanka cannot accommodate illegal immigrants due to economic and social concerns. However, if the individuals are verified as refugees, they will receive humanitarian assistance, according to international refugee laws until deportation (Daily Ft, 2025; Fazal, 2025).



Demonstration near the Presidential Secretariat calling on the government to refrain from sending Rohingya refugees back to Myanmar. Photo Credit: Waruna Wanniarachchi.

The government's decision to deport Rohingya refugees has been the subject of multiple protests in Sri Lanka, calling on the authorities to conform to international norms. A protest near

the Presidential Secretariat emphasized the potential harm to Sri Lanka's international reputation, while another demonstration organized by the North East Coordinating Committee (NECC) in Mullaitivu, called for the relocation of refugees from the militarized Keppapulavu Air Force Base to the Mirihana Immigration Detention Centre.

Activists like Yardson Figurado and Ruki Fernando called for adherence to international refugee standards and the establishment of laws to protect refugees. The Batticaloa Farmers' Federation also organized a protest on January 17 to condemn the deportation and call on the government to abide by international law. The protesters also asked the UNHCR to put pressure on other nations to offer sanctuary. These protests generally highlighted growing concerns about the treatment and deportation of Rohingya refugees in Sri Lanka (Daily Mirror, 2025; Perera, 2025; Tamil Guardian, 2025; Tamilwin, 2025).

The UN has called the Rohingya the "world's most persecuted minority," and they should not be repatriated given their vulnerable situation in Myanmar.Sri Lanka is not a signatory to the 1951 UN Refugee Convention but serves as a transit point for refugees until the UNHCR resettles them in other countries. Activists have also petitioned to relocate the refugees from the Keppapulavu Air Force base, arguing that housing them under military supervision violates international humanitarian norms.

The leader of the All Ceylon Makkal Congress, Rishad Bathiudeen, has written to President Anura Kumara Dissanayake, pleading with him to provide the Rohingya refugees who are presently in Sri Lanka refugee status (The Island, 2025). MP Mujeebur Rahuman has also requested President Dissanayake to reconsider the decision to deport the refugees (Daily Mirror, 2025). The UNHCR has urged the Sri Lankan government not to deport 103 Rohingya refugees who recently arrived in Mullaitivu after a dangerous sea journey seeking asylum. In reference to a 2024 guidance paper on international protection for individuals fleeing Myanmar, UNHCR underlined that the country is still unsafe.UN Resident Coordinator Marc-André Franche confirmed that the UNHCR has written to the Sri Lankan government, expressing gratitude for the country's assistance to the refugees. He also highlighted the importance of allowing access to the Human Rights Commission of Sri Lanka (HRCSL) and requested permission to visit the refugees. UNHCR transitioned to a liaison officer role in Sri Lanka after closing its full operations in 2024 (Ali, 2025).

The circumstances surrounding the 116 Rohingya who were detained at the Mullaitivu Air Force Camp in Sri Lanka following their boat arrival in December 2024 are detailed in the HRCSL Report on Rohingya Asylum Seekers (January 2025). The detainees, included 57 children, a pregnant woman, a breastfeeding mother, and a disabled man, face inadequate nutrition, limited medical care, and insufficient security for women.

Sri Lanka is not a party to international refugee conventions but must adhere to international human rights standards, including non-refoulement. After being denied entry at first, the HRCSL went to the camp, evaluated the situation, and pushed for improved welfare. Concerns over freedom of expression were raised as it interacted with state representatives and responded to civil society demonstrations.Key recommendations included appointing a focal point for aid distribution, allowing access to child welfare and UNHCR, facilitating media visits, ensuring security for female detainees, relocating them to better facilities, expediting asylum processing, protecting human rights defenders, and ratifying international conventions on refugees and statelessness (Human Rights Commission of Sri Lanka, 2025).

## 3. Freedom of Assembly and Association

Several recent occurrences show the government's interference in protests, either through legal action, court orders, or police actions. The CID's summons of Yartan Figurado in connection with the protest against the deportation of Rohingya asylum seekers suggest a pattern of government efforts to stifle protests concerning controversial or sensitive issues. The involvement of the CID's Human Trafficking and Maritime Crime Division indicated that the protest could have been deemed politically sensitive or disruptive by the authorities (Tamil Guardian, 2025; Tamilwin, 2025; The Island, 2025).



Yartan Figurado at the demonstration along with other protestors. Source: Tamilwin.

Despite court approval, several individuals, including MP Archuna Ramanathan, were prohibited from protesting within the Jaffna Police Division. While the court allowed the protest to take place in certain areas, the restrictions on access to high-security zones reflect the authorities' control over where and how protests can occur (Sukinthan, 2025; Ratugamage, 2025; Tamilwin, 2025). A court order restricting individuals like Madushan Chandrajith from entering key government premises during a planned protest is another example of how the authorities can

regulate where protests take place, thus limiting the expression of dissent in public spaces (Ada Derana, 2025; Daily Mirror Online, 2025; Newswire, 2025).

The disruption of a campaign demanding the release of Tamil political prisoners highlights tensions between ethnic groups in Sri Lanka and the state's approach to curbing movements that challenge long-standing laws such as the Prevention of Terrorism Act (PTA). The actions of the police, particularly in the Northern province, point to an effort to quash campaigns seen as challenging the status quo, particularly when such campaigns address controversial topics like ethnic minority rights (Tamil Guardian, 2025).



Police, obstructing a signature campaign that was organized to call for the release of individuals detained under the Prevention of Terrosrism Act (PTA). Source: Tamil Guardian.

The cancellation of a lecture on IMF austerity at University of Peradeniya, despite prior approval, signals direct or indirect government influence over academic spaces, especially when the event was expected to criticize the government's economic policies. However, Dr. Harini Amarasuriya, the Prime Minister and Minister of Education, denied any involvement in the cancellation of the IYSSE event, stating her support for academic freedom and democratic engagement. She emphasized that the decision to cancel the lecture was not influenced by her or her office (Prime Minister's Office, 2025). Despite her denial, the event's cancellation, especially after prior approval, suggests possible internal or external pressures that could have impacted the university's decision, raising concerns about the limitations on academic freedom (The Island, 2025). The release of 34 individuals, including Joseph Stalin, from a 2021 protest against the General Sir John Kotelawala National Defence University Bill shows a favorable outcome for those exercising their right to protest, despite earlier arrests under the Quarantine and Prevention of Diseases Ordinance. The protest, which involved members of the Inter-University Students' Federation (IUSF), Ceylon Teachers' Union (CTU), and the Frontline Socialist Party (FSP), was about the government's education policies. Initial arrests were based on quarantine regulations, which can sometimes be used to stifle dissent (Hiru News, 2025; Kumudhu Upul Shantha, 2025; Newswire, 2025).

The acquittal of former Inter-University Student Federation (IUSF) convener Lahiru Weerasekara and Bhikkhu Federation convener Tampitiye Sugathananda Thero for their involvement in the 2017 protest against the SAITM University reveals an improvement in the space available for dissent. The protest demanded the abolition of SAITM University, which was a controversial topic in Sri Lanka at the time. The court ruling to acquit the protesters suggests that the judicial system may be more inclined to protect the right to peaceful assembly, especially when there is no direct threat to public order (Abeynayake, 2025; Hiru News, 2025).

Cabinet Spokesman Dr. Nalinda Jayatissa acknowledged issues with the cases filed against individuals involved in the People's Struggle 2022 (commonly known as *Aragalaya*). He stated that the government would intervene to provide a reasonable solution, with the Justice Minister set to discuss the matter with the Attorney General. Dr. Jayatissa highlighted that although certain cases present challenges, the Attorney General is committed to finding an equitable resolution by considering each case on its own merits rather than treating them collectively (Gamage, 2025; Siriwardana, 2025).

## 4. Legal Reforms

In light of the legal, interpretative and technical difficulties encountered in the enforcement of the Anti-Corruption Act No. 9 of 2023, the Commission to Investigate Allegations of Bribery or Corruption suggested amendments and the introduction of new provisions to the Act. The Cabinet endorsed President Anura Kumara Dissanayake's initiative to establish a committee, which would be chaired by a Commissioner from the Bribery or Corruption Allegation Commission and will comprise senior officials from the Ministry of Justice, the Attorney General's Department, and the Legal Draftsman's Department. This committee was tasked with reviewing the Act and making recommendations for essential modifications.(Jayawardena, 2025; Office of the Cabinet of Ministers, Sri Lanka, 2024). The Women Parliamentarians' Caucus of Sri Lanka, headed by Minister Saroja Paulraj, addressed legislative reforms to establish a uniform legal minimum marriage age for all communities (Withanage, 2024). The Caucus also considered redefining 'child' to meet international standards for improved child protection. (Ceylon Today, 2025; Samarawickrama, 2025).



Prime Minister Dr. Harini Amarasuriya meeting with Uruwarige Vanniyalaththo, the leader of Vedda community and others in the Parliament Complex. Source - Prime Minister's Media Division.

A discussion led by the Ministry of Environment at the Parliament Complex addressed a Bill to protect the rights of Sri Lanka's indigenous community. Uruwarige Vanniyalaththo from the Vedda community spoke about their importance and ongoing struggles.

Prime Minister Amarasuriya stated that indigenous people must have equal rights and urged officials to resolve legal and technical issues within three months (The Official Government News Portal of Sri Lanka, 2025).

President Anura Kumara Dissanayake announced the government's plans to implement the Economic Transformation Act with amendments after its initial presentation on May 22, 2024. He mentioned the need for further changes before implementation during the Colombo Economic Summit (Ada Derana, 2025; Daily FT, 2025). The Cabinet of Ministers approved publishing the Proceeds of Crime Draft Bill for Parliament approval. The decision was made on December 9, 2024, and the Attorney General cleared the draft. This Bill was part of an action plan linked to an IMF corruption diagnostic report, with an expected passage by April 2024. It aligned with the UN Convention against Corruption and the international Financial Action Task Force's standards on asset recovery (Economynext, 2025). The Cabinet approved changes to the Code of Criminal Procedure Act to update court processes, allowing remote appearances (Office of the Cabinet of Ministers, 2025: The morning, 2025).

#### 5. Political Prisoners

The call for the release of Tamil political prisoners has gained significant momentum among Tamil political leaders, civil society, and activists. Murugaiah Komagan, coordinator of *Voice of the Voiceless*, urged President Anura Kumara Dissanayake to address the issue during his visit to Jaffna on Independence Day. Tamil political parties and civil society groups in the North have demanded the release of these prisoners by the Sinhala Hindu New Year, with the Jaffna University General Students' Union launching a petition in support. K. Sivajilingam, Secretary of the Tamil National Party, criticized past leaders for neglecting the issue and warned that failure to release the prisoners would lead to a strike. His counterpart, M.K. Sivajilingam further condemned successive governments, from Mahinda Rajapaksa to the current administration, for failing to take action, despite multiple changes in leadership. Batticaloa District MP N. Srinesan questioned the government's inconsistency, pointing out that while amnesty had been granted to other groups, Tamil political prisoners, particularly those detained under the controversial Prevention of Terrorism Act, remained incarcerated.



People taking part in the signature campaign organized by the Fighters' Welfare Association in Kilinochchci. Source: Tamilwin.

Reverend M. Sakthivel echoed calls for MPs to pressure the government for their release. These voices collectively stress the urgent need for the government to honor its promises and address the long-standing issue of Tamil political prisoners.

The signature campaign demanding the release of Tamil political prisoners, organized by the Fighters' Welfare Association and supported by various other groups such as the Villagers Welfare Association and the Workers' Welfare Association, took place across Sri Lanka's Northern and Eastern regions. The campaign aimed to collect 100,000 signatures from districts such as Vavuniya, Mannar, Mullaitivu, Kilinochchi, and Jaffna, with a deadline set before Sri Lanka's Independence Day. It called for the release of around 400 Tamil prisoners, many of whom have been held for over 15 years since the end of the war. The campaign highlighted the plight of those who were rehabilitated and released by the courts, only to be re-arrested and detained again. Signature collection efforts were held in locations like the Thenmarachchi area, Kilinochchi Depot Junction, and Pudukkudiyiruppu, with protests and petitions in support of the campaign taking place in these regions as well. Despite assurances from President Anura Kumara Dissanayake during his election campaign, the government's slow action on the issue has sparked frustration.

## 6. Repression of Media and Journalists

Journalists in Sri Lanka, especially those covering sensitive topics such as corruption, social challenges, and human rights abuses, continue to face threats. For instance, journalist Subramaniam Bhaskaran was attacked in Kilinochchi after exposing corruption within a farmers' federation (Tamil Guardian, 2025), while journalist Murugaiyah Thamilselvan was assaulted and nearly abducted due to his reporting (Tamil Guardian, 2025). Several journalists are involved in ongoing legal cases, highlighting a trend of using legal actions to deter journalistic freedom. For example, 30 individuals who were arrested in Batticaloa during a protest, including journalists, were pressed charges for road blocking (Tamilwin, 2025). Moreover, journalist Maria Seelan Thilex was investigated for attempting to report on an incident in Jaffna without prior permission (Tamilwin, 2025). These cases reflect broader concerns over the use of legal tools to silence or control journalists, particularly in regions with ethnic minorities.



Journalist Achala Upendra, whom police said was assaulted while covering an illegal sand mining case in Ampara. Source: Colombo Gazette.

The government has shown a willingness to take punitive actions against media outlets as well. The government issued a stern warning to a newspaper owned by a Parliamentarian for publishing false reports about the 'Clean Sri Lanka' national programme, accusing the media outlet of misleading the public (Newswire, 2025). While the government insists it supports media freedom, it has emphasized the need for accountability and threatened to take action against media outlets that spread malicious news (Newswire, 2025).

Civil society organizations and international bodies have called for stronger protections for journalists and media outlets in Sri Lanka. The Free Media Movement urged the police to expedite legal action against those attacking journalists (Lanka Leader, 2025), and the Committee to Protect Journalists (CPJ) emphasized the need for a swift investigation into the assault on Tamil journalist Murugaiyah Thamilselvan (Tamil Guardian, 2025). Additionally, a letter from 25 civil society organizations called for the reopening of investigations into past violence against journalists, a cessation of harassment, and the establishment of an independent media commission (Amnesty, 2025). In this context, the issue of ethical journalism has also come to the forefront. Dr. Hansaka Wijemuni, the Deputy Health and Mass Media Minister, announced that the CID would investigate journalists allegedly paid by pharmaceutical companies to spread false information on social media (Daily FT, 2025).

# 7. Land Rights of Tamil

President Anura Kumara Dissanayake emphasized the importance of returning land to its rightful owners, particularly in the Northern Province, and pledged to resolve this long-standing land dispute. He ensured alternative land for those affected by government acquisitions, and projects that benefit local communities, such as repurposing the Jaffna President's House (Withanage, 2025; Daily News, 2025).



President Anura Kumara Disanayake, addressing the issues related to land ownership during the Jaffna District Coordination Committee (DCC) meeting held at the Jaffna District Secretariat. Source: Daily News.

A long-standing issue involving land including military occupation of lands originally occupied by Tamil civilians or repurpose civilian-owned land for government use, which often displaced local communities from their lands. Trincomalee MP Kathiravelu Shanmugam Kukathasan requested the release of lands around Kaliamman Temple in Parayankulam and raised concerns over land rights in the Fourth Continent. The Forest Department agreed to review the issue (Tamilwin, 2025). A petition, signed by 2,500 people, was submitted to the President, demanding the release of land in Deravil, Kilinochchi, where Tamil freedom fighters were buried. The petition stressed the emotional distress caused by the military presence and called for legal restoration of the land (Tamilwin, 2025). A signature campaign was launched demanding the release of the Martyrs' homeland in Vishwamadu from military control. The campaign called for unrestricted commemoration of Martyrs' Day (Tamilwin, 2025). Vanni District MP M. Jagatheeswaran successfully intervened to have a plot of land in Kanagarayankulam, Vavuniya North, previously used by the police, released. The police were instructed to return the land (Tamilwin, 2025). Farmers in Muthu Nagar, Trincomalee protested against the allocation of agricultural land to a solar power company. They also raised concerns over the halt in pond renovations under the Wari Chaupakiya project (Tamilwin, 2025; Lanka Files, 2025). NPP Vanni District MP C. Thilaganathan announced that the army had agreed to release the Vavuniya Cooperative Training Center after 15 years. He also promised to reopen the Vavuniya Economic Center and provide Mahaweli Ganga water to the Vanni region (Tamilwin, 2025).

#### 8. Student-led Protests

In January 2025, protests at Jaffna University and Sri Lanka Bhikkhu University highlighted students' ongoing struggles for fair treatment, freedom of expression, dissent, and fundamental rights. At the University of Jaffna, students launched a hunger strike demanding an end to unjust investigations and ensuring the right to free expression and protest (Tamilwin, 2025). The protest was a response to disciplinary actions, including class bans and investigations outside university regulations. Student monks at Sri Lanka Bhikkhu University protested the Vice-Chancellor's mismanagement and unfair suspension of ten monks, claiming the administration failed to address their grievances (Kuruneru & Perera, 2025).



The student monks began a continuous '*Satyagraha*' in front of the new premises of the university on the New Puttalam Road in Anuradhapura calling on the Vice-Chancellor of the Sri Lanka Bhikkhu University, Senior Professor Kanaththegoda Saddharathana Thero to resign from his post. Source: Divaina.

Students of Sri Jayewardenepura Medical Faculty protest against the government's privatization plan of state hospitals, expressing concerns over the commercialization of education (Daily Mirror, 2025). Students view this decision as detrimental to medical education quality and accessibility, as it may lead to profit-driven motives overriding educational and healthcare

objectives. Protests took place in Gampaha Wickramarachchi Indigenous Medical University due to the absence of basic study facilities (Dissanayake, 2025).

President Dissanayake visited Jaffna on 31 January to attend several events, including a public gathering. MP Ramanathan, along with the Northern Province Unemployed Graduates' Association and other groups, had called for protests during this visit. In this context, Jaffna police summoned the Northern Province Unemployed Graduates' Association leader to appear before the Magistrate. The protesters were dispersed after the summons, and the Magistrate issued notices to five other protesters, including independent MP Dr. Ramanathan Archchuna. The parallels between these protests are the continuous student resistance toward decisions made by university administrations or the government they perceive as unjust or harmful. These student protests further demonstrate their demand for greater autonomy, transparency, and accountability in academic and administrative affairs.

#### 9. Repressive Laws

Bimal Ratnayake, Leader of the House has acknowledged the controversial nature of the PTA law and expresses a desire to replace it with more balanced legislation. The government has pledged to repeal the PTA and replace it with a new Anti-Terrorism Act (ATA) that aligns with international human rights standards (Siriwardana & Perera, 2025; Jayammanne, 2025). Justice Minister Harshana Nanayakkara has confirmed that a cabinet paper is being prepared to establish a committee for a significant reform in this regard (Lanka News Web, 2025; Newsfirst, 2025). The PTA has faced widespread criticism for alleged human rights violations, a concern, further emphasized by the European Union's Election Observation Mission (EU EOM), which praised Sri Lanka's 2024 Presidential Election for its transparency and democratic process but also urged for the repeal of restrictive laws such as the PTA (Tamilwin, 2025; Daily FT, 2025). The EU's call for repeal aligns with global concerns about the balance between national security and the protection of fundamental rights. Furthermore, the EU EOM's recognition of reforms in campaign finance and youth inclusion signals a positive trend in Sri Lanka's political landscape, though the need for improvements in women's political participation and preventing state resource misuse suggests ongoing challenges (Tamilwin, 2025; Daily FT, 2025). On January 24, 2025, President Anura Kumara Dissanayake invoked the Public Security Ordinance to deploy Armed Forces to maintain public order in specified areas starting with effect from January 27, 2025. This reflects the continued military interventions to civil affairs (The Gazette of the Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka, 2025).

#### 10. Police Brutality

The Sri Lanka Police introduced the 1997 Tip Line, providing a confidential method for reporting crimes such as drug trafficking, organized crime, and financial fraud. The initiative aims to enhance crime prevention and national security, but it also requires addressing trust issues between the public and law enforcement due to police abuse and corruption. Several reports point to a disturbing trend of police officers engaging in various forms of misconduct, such as the Officer-in-Charge of Medirigiriya Police was arrested for allegedly sexually harassing a Woman Police Constable, highlighting the power abuse and misogynistic nature within the police (Ada Derana, 2025). The suspension of the Acting OIC of Daulagala Police and the transfer of other officers for their failure to respond promptly to the abduction case highlights the issue of police negligence. Despite receiving information, the officers failed to act, which allowed a serious crime to unfold (Seneviratne, 2025; Kuruluwansha, 2025). Multiple instances of physical abuse by police have also been reported, including the assault of a woman at the Periya Neelavana Police Station, resulting in hospitalization (Tamilwin, 2025). A three-wheeler driver was allegedly stripped, beaten, and unlawfully detained at Dematagoda Police Station, leading to a court notice against the OIC (Newswire, 2025; Sri Lanka Collective Against Torture, 2025).

The frequent instances of officers acting with impunity, such as detainee abuse and critical reporting omissions, highlight a significant lack of accountability within law enforcement. The Weligama man's case, where he was allegedly assaulted and falsely charged by Midigama Police, underscores the vulnerability of citizens under police authority (Sri Lanka Collective Against Torture, 2025). The condemnation of police behavior by Sri Lanka Tamil Arasu Party (SLTP) MPs and the filing of complaints with the Human Rights Commission by victims and their families reflect a growing public dissatisfaction and the desire for accountability.

## 11. Families of the Forcefully Disappeared

The Mullaitivu District Association of Relatives of the Enforced Disappeared has pledged to persist in their fight for justice and truth following the January executive committee elections. A major protest was planned in Kilinochchi for Independence Day, with a call for widespread support for the cause (Tamilwin, 2025). On December 30, 2024, Tamil families of the disappeared held a protest in Vavuniya, organized by the Vavuniya District Families of the Disappeared organization, demanding justice for their loved ones. Despite 16 years since the end of Sri Lanka's armed conflict, thousands of Tamils remain unaccounted for, many believed to have been abducted by state forces. Protesters in Sri Lanka have called on the United Nations to demand justice for the disappeared or ones and the release of Tamil political prisoners. They called on the incoming US administration, led by Donald Trump, to address their concerns. The protest highlighted the ongoing struggle of Tamil mothers, marking the 2886th day of their efforts to seek the return of their disappeared children. Their aim is to raise awareness, prevent future genocides, and gain international support for Tamil sovereignty (Tamil Guardian).



Loved ones of the disappeared, protesting in Vavuniya, demanding justice and calling on US President Donald Trump to address their concerns. Source: Tamil Guardian.

## 12. Local Government Election

Sri Lanka's Local Government (LG) Elections, initially delayed since 2018 under various political, economic and legal circumstances, are now expected to take place in April 2025. The government has made multiple announcements regarding the elections, and legal proceedings surrounding an amendment to the Local Authorities Elections Act have added further complexities. The government, led by President Anura Kumara Dissanayake, has announced that the LG Elections will be held before April (Newswire, 2025). Cabinet Spokesman Dr. Nalinda Javatissa confirmed April 2025 elections, stating the Supreme Court's verdict has been received by the Speaker and will be announced in Parliament (Ada Derana, 2025). He added, the Provincial Council Elections will be decided once the LG Elections are being held (Ada Derana, 2025). The Supreme Court has reviewed petitions challenging the constitutionality of certain clauses in the Local Authorities Elections Special Provisions Bill. The Bill proposed fresh nominations for certain local authorities where elections were previously called and postponed. Petitioners argued that nullifying previous nominations would violate fundamental rights, requesting a ruling requiring a two-thirds majority in Parliament and a public referendum (Abeynayake, 2025). A draft bill amending the Local Authorities Elections Act has been submitted to Parliament and reviewed by the Supreme Court, with the court's decision expected to be announced soon (Ada Derana, 2025).

## 13. Easter Sunday Attacks

The Colombo High Court Trial-at-Bar informed former IGP Pujith Jayasundara and former Defence Secretary Hemasiri Fernando that the Supreme Court had overturned their acquittal in the Easter Sunday attacks case. The Supreme Court's ruling, issued on November 5, 2024, annulled the previous judgment, which had acquitted the accused due to insufficient evidence and without summoning defense witnesses. (Nanayakkara, 2025; Tharaka, 2025).



Catholic community, protesting at a demonstration held in Borella calling on the government to probe the placing a hand grenade inside the All Saint's Church. Source: Kithsiri de Mel.

The Catholic Church of Sri Lanka has renewed calls for a proper investigation into the hand grenade incident at All Saints Church, Borella, on January 11, 2022. During a protest marking the third anniversary of the event, Catholic clergy and lay people criticized the flawed investigation, wrongful arrest of the church caretaker, and failure to apprehend the real culprits. Protesters suspect the incident was an attempt to intimidate the Church in its pursuit of justice for the 2019 Easter Sunday bombings. They called on the current government to conduct a thorough probe, particularly scrutinizing the actions of former officials and security forces, whom they accused of conspiracy and negligence (Perera, 2025; Daily Mirror, 2025; The Island, 2025).

## 14. Accountability for Past War Crimes

Human Rights Watch reported that Sri Lanka's crises are linked to persistent impunity for rights violations, discrimination against minority communities, and laws and institutions aimed at silencing critics, according to Human Rights Watch. It further claimed President Dissanayake has the opportunity to make significant progress on rights if he fulfills his campaign pledges, but must also address the legacy of past conflicts and ongoing abuses against Tamils and Muslims (Human Rights Watch, 2025).

#### 15. Mass Graves

Sri Lanka's largest mass grave investigations in Mannar and Thiruketheeswaram continued, with over 150 boxes of skeletal remains handed to medical experts for further forensic investigation. Investigation into Thiruketheeswaram mass grave continues, revealing 27 skeletons, age, gender, and potential causes of death. Further reports expected within six months (Tamil Guardian, 2025). Exhumation work at Colombo port mass grave site resumed after a halt due to lack of funds, with three human skeletons discovered and more observed after site expansion six months ago (Lanka Files, 2025).

#### 16. MP Privilege Violation of Tamil MP

Sri Lanka Tamil Arasu Party Acting Leader and MP Sivagnanam Shritharan has condemned the detention and questioning of MP Shritharan at Katunayake International Airport while he was traveling to India. He, was stopped and questioned by immigration officials due to passport issues and a possible travel ban. Sivagnanam raised concerns over the incident, arguing it could be retaliation for Shritharan's criticism of the government's Sinhala settlement plans (Tamilwin, 2025). After Shritharan's return, no travel ban was confirmed. MP Shritharan and Opposition MP Rauf Hakeem raised concerns in Parliament, with Shritharan accusing the government of violating his privileges, while MP Rauf Hakeem questioning the government's stance on the Prevention of Terrorism Act (Lanka Files, 2025). The NPP government,, expressed regret over this particular incident, assured their privileges, requested a report from immigration officials, and stressed the need for careful handling of existing laws.

## 17. Questionable Government Appointments

The President appointed Ruwan Wanigasooriya as Chief of National Intelligence, despite his history of denying war crimes despite evidence of mass civilian casualties and sexual violence. As the Army spokesperson has dismissed allegations of cluster bombing, child execution, and opposes Tamil remembrance activities, justifying military land occupation, and supporting nationalist narratives (Tamil Guardian, 2025).

#### 18. Protests against Sinhalization

Residents of Verugal, Trincomalee protest against the Department of Archaeology's designation of the "1 KM Vattavan Archaeological Zone," fearing it could lead to Sinhalization, land displacement, and increased militarization. The area already hosts several military installations, mainly in Tamil regions, sparking concerns about further Sinhala Buddhist colonization. Protestors, including local residents, civil society groups, and human rights activists, have criticized the ongoing land displacement and conversion of cultural sites into Buddhist religious sites. The group submitted a memorandum to local authorities, demanding transparency in Gazette Notifications about an archaeological site and a ban on constructing Buddha statues or temples in the vicinity. Protection of nearby agricultural lands from government seizure. Discussion of these concerns in the Verugal Divisional Development Committee meetings, with a firm commitment to addressing them (Tamil Guardian, 2025).

## 19. Digital NIC

Sri Lanka is launching a Digital ID Project in collaboration with India, modeled after India's Aadhaar Card system, to introduce electronic national identity cards (e-NICs) for administrative and financial purposes (The Sunday Times, 2025). The People's Struggle Alliance has criticized the decision to allow an Indian company to issue digital ID cards, arguing that it threatens national security, public safety, and sovereignty. The government is urged to reconsider granting foreign entities access to citizens' data due to potential negative consequences (Newswire, 2025). Sri Lankan Minister Eranga Weeraratne assured Indian personnel and companies no access to biometric data, stating data collection and storage will be managed by the government (Sunday Observer, 2025). Similarly, Deputy Minister of Digital Economy Eranga

Weeraratne stated that the agreement was modified to ensure that control of the system would be transferred to a local entity, with a transparent and competitive selection process for the platform developer (Jayawardana, 2025). Activists remain skeptical of the government's intentions and India's financial involvement in the project, as India is funding half of it. They speculate that the digital ID could be used for governmental control, including suppressing uprisings, given its inclusion of biometric data (The Morning, 2025).

## 20. State Accountability

The government has approved compensation for 17 patients who lost their vision after cataract surgeries at Nuwara Eliya Hospital due to substandard drug use, and is pursuing legal action against the supplier (Daily FT, 2025; Sunday Times, 2025; The Morning, 2025).

## 21. Other

The Colombo Magistrate's Court sentenced Bodu Bala Sena General Secretary Galagoda Aththe Gnanasara Thero to nine months simple imprisonment and a fine of Rs. 1,500 for a 2016 defamatory statement. The case was filed under Section 291 of the Penal Code for the comment, "Islam is a cancer, it must be eradicated," which was deemed to incite ethnic disharmony. The court stressed the need for ethnic harmony and condemned his inflammatory remarks. Gnanasara Thero's legal team plans to appeal the verdict (BBC, 2025; Thajudeen, 2025; Thajudeen, 2025).

Members of the Association of Leasing and Debt Instalment Payers protested outside Colombo Police Headquarters, accusing the police of enabling illegal vehicle seizures. Held on January 31, the demonstration called for presidential intervention to stop the confiscations (Daily Mirror, 2025).



Members of the Association of Leasing and Debt Instalment Payers, protesting outside the Colombo Police Headquarters. Photo Credit Nisal Baduge.

Colombo Additional Magistrate urged prison officials to treat remanded suspects humanely, addressing overcrowding, poor conditions in the prison system and delays in court proceedings. Human rights groups and the UN's Nelson Mandela Rules, which Sri Lanka has ratified also call for humane treatment (Daily Ft, 2025; Daily Mirror, 2025).

The Supreme Court of Sri Lanka has terminated proceedings in a Fundamental Rights petition filed by a group of religious leaders, including Ven. Bengamuwe Nalaka and Elle Gunawansa Theros, seeking action against Pastor Jerome Fernando for allegedly insulting other religions. The petitioners filed a lawsuit against the pastor under the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR) Act No. 56 of 2007. The Senior Deputy Solicitor General, speaking on behalf of the Attorney General, ensured the court during the hearing that any further complaints might be brought forward for consideration prior to a final independent determination concerning any action against Pastor Fernando. According to the Supreme Court's record, Sanjeeva Jayawardena, the President's Counsel, has the authority to transmit these concerns on the petitioners' behalf. The petitioners also expressed dissatisfaction with the way the Criminal Investigation Department (CID) handled Pastor Fernando's alleged money laundering. The petitioners believed the inquiry was insufficient, even though he was arrested and appeared in court under the ICCPR Act and the Penal Code. The Supreme Court then ended the proceedings after all parties agreed to the Attorney General's assurance to consider further complaints (Sooriyagoda, 2025).

Pastor Jerome Fernando criticized Sri Lankan journalism for not reporting on a recent Supreme Court ruling that ended proceedings on a Fundamental Rights petition against him. He claimed that after 20 months of media narratives against him, no news outlet covered the verdict (The Morning, 2025).

#### References

யாழ். பல்கலைக்கழக மாணவர்களின் உண்ணாவிரத போராட்டத்துக்கு ஊழியர் சங்கம் ஆதரவு. (2024, January 24). Tamilwin.

https://tamilwin.com/article/support-for-jaffna-uni-students-hunger-strike-1737760605

தமிழ் அரசியல் கைதிகளை விடுவிக்குமாறு கோரி கையெழுத்து போராட்ட.

(2025, January 2). Tamilwin.

https://tamilwin.com/article/protest-demanding-the-release-of-prisoners-1735851055

தமிழ் அரசியல் கைதிகளை விடுவிக்க கோரி கிளிநொச்சியில் கையெழுத்து போராட்டம். (2025, January 3). Tamilwin.

https://tamilwin.com/article/campaign.demanding.release of poli

https://tamilwin.com/article/campaign-demanding-release-of-political-prisoners-17359018 60

அம்பாறையில் ஊடகவியலாளர் மீது தாக்குதல்: சந்தேக நபர்களுக்கு

விளக்கமறியல். (2025, January 3). Tamilwin.

https://tamilwin.com/article/attack-on-journalist-four-suspects-arrested-1735990564

திருகோணமலையில் விவசாயிகள் கவனயீர்ப்பு ஆர்ப்பாட்டம். (2025, January 3).

Tamilwin.

https://tamilwin.com/article/farmers-attention-grabbing-protest-in-trincomalee-173589891

கனகராயன்குளம் பகுதியில் பொலிசாரின் கட்டுப்பாட்டின் கீழ் இருந்த காணி விடுவிப்பு: ஜெகதீஸ்வரன் எம்.பி. (2025, January 4). Tamilwin.

https://tamilwin.com/article/land-release-in-kanakarayankulam-mp-speaks-1735969168

யாழில் மீண்டும் சோதனைச்சாவடி : மக்கள் மத்தியில் அச்சம். (2025, January 7).

Tamilwin. https://tamilwin.com/article/checkpoints-again-in-jaffna-1736226009

பொலிஸ் - காணி அதிகாரங்களை வடக்கு மக்களுக்கு வழங்காதீர்கள்! இடித்துரைத்த தேரர். (2025, January 7). Tamilwin.

https://tamilwin.com/article/police-land-powers-to-north-issue-1736260018

பொலிஸ் - காணி அதிகாரங்களை வடக்கு மக்களுக்கு வழங்காதீர்கள்! இடித்துரைத்த தேரர். (2025, January 7). Tamilwin.

https://tamilwin.com/article/police-land-powers-to-north-issue-1736260018

புதிய அரசாவது அரசியல் கைதிகளை விடுவிக்க வேண்டும்! (2025, January 8). Tamilwin.

https://tamilwin.com/article/protest-demanding-release-of-political-prisoners-1736365916

காணியை விடுவிக்குமாறு கோரி கையெழுத்து போராட்டம். (2025, January 8).

Tamilwin.

https://tamilwin.com/article/signature-campaign-demanding-the-release-of-land-1736366 810

சிறையில் உள்ள தமிழ் கைதிகளை விடுதலை செய்யுமாறு புதிய

அரசாங்கத்திடம் கோரிக்கை. (2025, January 11). Tamilwin.

https://tamilwin.com/article/tamil-prisoners-in-jail-should-be-freed-1736584949

விமான நிலையத்தில் தடுத்து நிறுத்தப்பட்ட சிறீதரன்: வன்மையாக கண்டித்த

தமிழரசு கட்சி. (2025, January 11). Tamilwin.

https://tamilwin.com/article/sri-lankan-mp-sritharan-detained-at-airport-1736631046

மட்டக்களப்பில் நடைபெற்ற அரசியல் கைதிகளின் விடுதலைக்கான கையெழுத்து போராட்டம். (2025, January 12). Tamilwin.

https://tamilwin.com/article/campaign-for-release-of-political-prisoners-1736643158

மட்டக்களப்பில் நடைபெற்ற அரசியல் கைதிகளின் விடுதலைக்கான

கையெழுத்து போராட்டம். (2025, January 12). Tamilwin.

https://tamilwin.com/article/campaign-for-release-of-political-prisoners-1736643158

## ரோஹிங்கிய அகதிகள் விவகாரம்: சிவில் செயற்பாட்டாளர் ஒருவர் சிஐடிக்கு அழைப்பு. (2025, January 13).

https://tamilwin.com/article/rohingya-muslim-issue-inquiry-north-east-connector-1736743 880

நாட்டில் உள்ள சிறைகளில் அரசியல் கைதிகளென எவரும் இல்லை! நீதி அமைச்சர். (2025, January 14). Tamilwin.

https://tamilwin.com/article/no-political-prisoners-being-held-in-jail-harshana-1736863310

அரசியல் கைதிகளென எவரும் சிறைகளில் இல்லை ; ஹர்ஷண நாணயக்காரர் விசனம். (2025, January 15). jvpnews.

https://jvpnews.com/article/no-political-prisoners-prisons-harshana-17368888882

සයිටම නඩුවනේ ලහිරු ව්රසේකර සහ ටැම්පිටියේ සුගතානන්ද හිම් නිදහස් කරන්නැයි අධ්කරණයනේ නියෝග. (2025, January 16). Hiru News.

https://www.hirunews.lk/393793/%E0%B7%83%E0%B6%BA%E0%B7%92%E0%B6%A 7%E0%B6%B8%E0%B7%8A-%E0%B6%B1%E0%B6%A9%E0%B7%94%E0%B7%80 %E0%B7%99%E0%B6%B1%E0%B7%8A-%E0%B6%BD%E0%B7%84%E0%B7%92% E0%B6%BB%E0%B7%94-%E0%B7%80%E0%B7%93%E0%B6%BB%E0%B7%83%E 0%B7%9A%E0%B6%9A%E0%B6

தமிழ் தேசிய மக்கள் முன்னணியின் மாவட்ட அமைப்பாளர் நீதிமன்றத்திற்கு அழைப்பு. (2025, January 16). Tamilwin.

https://tamilwin.com/article/invitation-to-district-organizer-court-of-tnpf-1737007021

முல்லைத்தீவு ஊடகவியலாளர் மீதான வழக்கு விவகாரம்: நீதிமன்றம்

பிறப்பித்துள்ள உத்தரவு. (2025, January 16). Tamilwin.

https://tamilwin.com/article/case-against-mullaitivu-journalist-update-1737061950

யாழில் வேலையில்லா பட்டதாரிகள் வித்தியாசமான முறையில் போராட்டம்! (2025, January 16). Tamilwin.

https://tamilwin.com/article/unemployed-graduates-protest-in-jaffna-1737011923

37

மியன்மார் அகதிகள் விவகாரம். மட்டக்களப்பு பள்ளிவாசலுக்கு முன்னால் போராட்டம். (2025, January 17). Tamilwin. Retrieved January 17, 2025, from https://tamilwin.com/article/myanmar-refugees-issue-protest-in-batti-mosque-173711441 2

அரசியல் கைதிகளின் விடுதலை குறித்து அருட்தந்தை மா.சத்திவேல் கேள்வி. (2025, January 17). Tamilwin.

https://tamilwin.com/article/political-prisoners-not-jail-question-by-sakthivel-1737101901

நீதி அமைச்சரின் கருத்துக்கு அருட்தந்தை மா.சக்திவேல் கடும் கண்டனம். (2025, January 17). Tamilwin.

https://tamilwin.com/article/strong-condemnation-by-rev-sakthivel-1737155747

கிளிநொச்சி ஊடகவியலாளர் தாக்குதல் விவகாரம்: பொலிஸார் வழங்கியுள்ள

உறுதிமொழி. (2025, January 17). Tamilwin.

https://tamilwin.com/article/kilinochchi-journalist-attack-case-1737075361

மியன்மார் அகதிகள் விவகாரம்: போராட்டக்காரர்களுக்கு வழங்கப்பட்டுள்ள வாக்குறுதி. (2025, January 18). Tamilwin.

https://tamilwin.com/article/promised-that-rohingyas-not-be-deported-to-myanmar-17371 97301

இலங்கை நீதியமைச்சரின் கருத்துக்கு சி.அ.யோதிலிங்கம் கண்டனம். (2025,

January 18). Tamilwin.

https://tamilwin.com/article/yothilingam-condemns-sri-lankan-finance-minister-17372066 91

அரசியல் கைதிகளின் விடுதலையை வலியுறுத்தி கையெழுத்து போராட்டம்.

(2025, January 18). Tamilwin.

https://tamilwin.com/article/signature-protest-release-of-political-prisoners-1737216621

#### அரசியல் கைதிகளின் விடுதலையை வலியுறுத்தி போராடுவோம்!

சிவாஜிலிங்கம் எச்சரிக்கை. (2025, January 19). Tamilwin.

https://tamilwin.com/article/struggle-for-the-release-of-political-prisoners-1737317439

தேராவில் மாவீர்ர் துயிலும் இல்ல காணி விவகாரம் குறித்து ஜனாதிபதிக்கு மனு. (2025, January 20). Tamilwin.

https://tamilwin.com/article/theravil-land-issue-petition-to-president-and-pm-1737407590

எம்மில் பலரும் கூலி வேலை செய்பவர்களே! வேலையில்லா பட்டதாரிகள் ஆதங்கம்! (2025, January 21). Tamilwin.

https://tamilwin.com/article/unemployed-graduates-protest-jaffna-1737417613

எம்மில் பலரும் கூலி வேலை செய்பவர்களே! வேலையில்லா பட்டதாரிகள் ஆதங்கம்! (2025, January 21). Tamilwin.

https://tamilwin.com/article/unemployed-graduates-protest-jaffna-1737417613

- தமிழ் அரசியல் கைதிகள் தொடர்பாக இலங்கை நீதியமைச்சர் தெரிவித்த கருத்திற்கு கண்டனம் தெரிவிப்பு. (2025, January 22). Tamilwin. https://tamilwin.com/article/political-prisoners-in-sri-lanka-1737581654
- மயிலத்தமடு மாதவனை பிரச்சினைக்கான போராட்டக்காரர்கள் மீதான வழக்கு*:* ஊடகவியலாளருக்கு பிடியாணை. (2025, January 22). Tamilwin.

https://tamilwin.com/article/struggle-for-mayilathamadu-madhavan-issue-1737583743

உண்ணாவிரதப் போராட்டத்தில் குதித்த யாழ்.பல்கலை மாணவர்கள். (2025,

January 24). Tamilwin.

https://tamilwin.com/article/jaffna-university-students-went-on-hunger-strike-1737706481

இரண்டாவது நாளாக தொடரும் யாழ். பல்கலை மாணவர்களின் உணவு தவிர்ப்பு போராட்டம். (2025, January 25). Tamilwin.

https://tamilwin.com/article/jaffna-university-students-hunger-strike-1737791901

### முடிவுக்கு வந்த யாழ். பல்கலைக்கழக மாணவர்களின் உணவுத்தவிர்ப்பு போராட்டம். (2025, January 25). Tamilwin.

https://tamilwin.com/article/jaffna-university-students-hunger-strike-ends-1737841810

யாழில் ஊடகவியலாளருக்கு எதிராக இரண்டு மணிநேரம் விசாரணை. (2025, January 27). Tamilwin.

https://tamilwin.com/article/two-hour-interrogation-against-journalist-1738016373

போராட்டம் தொடரும்! வலிந்து காணாமல் ஆக்கப்பட்டவர்களின் உறவுகள் திட்டவட்டம். (2025, January 27). Tamilwin.

https://tamilwin.com/article/mullaitivu-protest-group-elects-new-leaders-1737927173

#### தமிழரசுக் கட்சியின் மத்திய செயற்குழு உறுப்பினருக்கு பயங்கரவாத விசாரணை பிரிவு அழைப்பு. (2025, January 29). Tamilwin.

https://tamilwin.com/article/tna-committee-member-investigation-for-tid-1738173144

சுதந்திர தினத்தன்று அரசியல் கைதிகளின் விடுதலையை வலியுறுத்தும் தமிழ் அமைப்பு. (2025, January 29). Tamilwin.

https://tamilwin.com/article/tamil-organization-release-of-political-prisoner-1738169118

# வனத்துறை கையகப்படுத்தியுள்ள காணி தொடர்பில் குகதாசனின் கோரிக்கை.

(2025, January 29).

https://tamilwin.com/article/kukathasan-s-request-regarding-acquired-land-1738140154

- வடமாகாண வேலையற்ற பட்டதாரிகளால் போராட்டம் முன்னெடுப்பு. (2025, January 30). Tamilwin
- ஜனாதிபதிக்கு எதிரான போராட்டம்: நீதிமன்றம் பிறப்பித்துள்ள உத்தரவு. (2025, January 30). Tamilwin.

https://tamilwin.com/article/court-allows-protest-during-president-s-visit-1738271646

மெதிரிகிரிய பொலிஸ் நிலைய பொறுப்பதிகாரி கைது. (2025, January 31). Tamilwin. https://tamilwin.com/article/medirigiriya-oic-arrested-1738361357 ලංකා ගුරු සංගමය ේ ප්රධාන ලේකම්වරයා ඇතුලු 34 දනෙකු නිදහස් කරෙේ. (2025, January 6). Hiru News.

https://www.hirunews.lk/392844/%E0%B6%BD%E0%B6%82%E0%B6%9A%E0%B7%8 F-%E0%B6%9C%E0%B7%94%E0%B6%BB%E0%B7%94-%E0%B7%83%E0%B6%82 %E0%B6%9C%E0%B6%B8%E0%B6%BA%E0%B7%9A-%E0%B6%B4%E0%B7%8A %E2%80%8D%E0%B6%BB%E0%B6%B0%E0%B7%8F%E0%B6%B1-%E0%B6%BD %E0%B7%9A%E0%B6%9A%E0%B

Abeynayake, A.J.A. (2025, January 17). සයිටම විරෝධී උද්ඝෝෂණ වෝදනාවෙන් ළහිරු හා ටැමපිට්ය ේහිම නිදහසි. *Divaina*.

https://divaina.lk/%e0%b7%83%e0%b6%ba%e0%b7%92%e0%b6%a7%e0%b6%b8%e 0%b7%8a-%e0%b7%80%e0%b7%92%e0%b6%bb%e0%b7%9d%e0%b6%b0%e0%b7 %93-%e0%b6%8b%e0%b6%af%e0%b7%8a%e0%b6%9d%e0%b7%9d%e0%b7%82% e0%b6%ab-%e0%b6%a0%e0%b7%9d/

Abeynayake, A.J.A. (2025, January 22). උසාව් නියෝගයක් නැතිව කුලි රථ රියැදුරු දින 7ක් රඳවාගනෙ අත් කැඩනේන ගහලා දමෙටග**ොඩ ඕඅයිසී ට න**ොතිසි. *Divaina.* 

https://divaina.lk/%e0%b6%8b%e0%b7%83%e0%b7%8f%e0%b7%80%e0%b7%92-%e 0%b6%b1%e0%b7%92%e0%b6%ba%e0%b7%9d%e0%b6%9c%e0%b6%ba%e0%b6 %9a%e0%b7%8a-%e0%b6%b1%e0%b7%90%e0%b6%ad%e0%b7%92%e0%b7%80-%e0%b6%9a%e0%b7%94%e0%b6%bd/

Abeynayake, A.J.A. (2025, January 28). SC to inform Speaker on verdict for petitions against Local Elections Bill. *The Island*.

https://island.lk/sc-to-inform-speaker-on-verdict-for-petitions-against-local-elections-bill/

Accused Sri Lankan war criminal appointed Chief of National Intelligence. (2025, January 8). Tamil Guardian.

https://www.tamilguardian.com/content/accused-sri-lankan-war-criminal-appointed-chiefnational-intelligenc Addressing Land Issues and Accelerating Land Returns to the People in the North – Prez. (2025, January 31). *Daily News*.

https://www.dailynews.lk/2025/01/31/local/715091/addressing-land-issues-and-accelerating-land-returns-to-the-people-in-the-north-prez-2/

AKD asks private sector to come clean. (2025, January 29). Daily FT.

https://www.ft.lk/top-story/AKD-asks-private-sector-to-come-clean/26-772345

Ali, R. (2025, January 10). UNHCR urges not to repatriate Rohingya refugees. *Ceylon Today*. https://ceylontoday.lk/2025/01/10/unhcr-urges-not-to-repatriate-rohingya-refugees/

Amended Code of Criminal Procedure act approved by Cabinet. (2025, January 7). *the morning*. https://www.themorning.lk/articles/wQZoeUU2vm6cEoZYrMpR

Amnesty. (2025, January 13). *Press Freedom Protections in Sri Lanka*. Amnesty International. https://www.amnesty.org/es/wp-content/uploads/2025/01/ASA3789272025ENGLISH.pdf

Apr.-May 2023 N'Eliya ocular complications: Compensation to 17 patients. (2025, January 8). *the morning*. https://www.themorning.lk/articles/Y28nwitwydQnVA88u6Al

'Aragalaya' group reiterates digital biometric ID fears. (2025, January 22). the morning.

https://www.themorning.lk/articles/53KScgDI6AVcR0FiYj8q

Cabinet greenlights Proceeds of Crime Draft Bill. (2025, January 21). Ada Derana.

https://www.adaderana.lk/news.php?nid=105144

Cabinet Paper Prepared to Abolish PTA. (2025, January 22). News First.

https://www.newsfirst.lk/2025/01/22/cabinet-paper-prepared-to-abolish-pta

CID seeks legal advice on self-proclaimed Bodhisattva. (2025, January 16). Daily Mirror.

https://www.dailymirror.lk/breaking-news/CID-seeks-legal-advice-on-self-proclaimed-Bod hisattva/108-300244

CID summons activist following protest against deportation of Rohingya asylum seekers. (2025, January 12). Tamil Guardian.

https://www.tamilguardian.com/content/cid-summons-activist-following-protest-against-d eportation-rohingya-asylum-seekers

CID summons activist following protest against deportation of Rohingya asylum seekers. (2025, January 14). *The Island*.

https://island.lk/cid-summons-activist-following-protest-against-deportation-of-rohingya-a sylum-seekers/

CID to grill journalists paid by pharmaceutical companies to spread fake news. (2025, January 17). *Daily FT*.

https://www.ft.lk/news/CID-to-grill-journalists-paid-by-pharmaceutical-companies-to-spre ad-fake-news/56-771844

Colombo Gazette. (2025, January 3). Six suspects have been arrested over an assault on a journalist in Ampara. Facebook.

https://www.facebook.com/photo.php?fbid=1157028059759027&id=100063555310785& set=a.507819938013179

Committee to Protect Journalists calls for 'swift and impartial' investigation into attempted abduction of Tamil journalist. (2025, January 12). Tamil Guardian.

https://www.tamilguardian.com/content/committee-protect-journalists-calls-swift-and-imp artial-investigation-attempted-abduction

Concerns raised over Indian Company's involvement in Digital NIC. (2025, January 6).

Newswire.

https://www.newswire.lk/2025/01/06/concerns-raised-over-indian-companys-involvement -in-digital-nic/

Controversial Buddhist monk jailed for insulting Islam. (2025, January 10). BBC.

https://www.bbc.com/news/articles/ce8jdy8j41lo

Court order issued over IUSF protest planned in Colombo. (2025, January 8). Ada Derana.

https://www.adaderana.lk/news.php?nid=104827

- Dematagoda OIC in trouble over brutal assault allegation. (2025, January 22). Newswire. https://www.newswire.lk/2025/01/22/dematagoda-oic-in-trouble-over-brutal-assault-alleg ation/
- Department of Government Information Sri Lanka. (2025, January 3). මාධ්ය නිදහස මූවාවනේ අසත්ය ප්රචාර එපා ස**ෞඛා හා ජනමාධ්ය අමාත්ය ව**ෛද ු නලින්ද ජයතිස්ස මහතා. Facebook. https://www.facebook.com/DepartmentOfGovernmentInformation/videos/173042364752 5932/?ref=embed\_video
- Dewage, N. (2025, January 8). Why was the Sri Lankan IYSSE meeting cancelled at Peradeniya University? https://www.wsws.org/en/articles/2025/01/09/njja-j09.html

Digital NIC: Handle it with care. (2025, January 5). The Sunday Times.

https://www.sundaytimes.lk/250105/editorial/digital-nic-handle-it-with-care-583894.html

Dissanayake, T. (2025, January 29). ව්ක්රමාරවව් සිසුවෝ පාරට බසිති. Lankadeepa.

https://www.lankadeepa.lk/latest\_news/%E0%B7%80%E0%B6%9A%E0%B6%B8%E0 %B6%B8%E0%B6%BB%E0%B6%A0%E0%B6%A0-%E0%B7%83%E0%B7%83%E0% B7%80-%E0%B6%B4%E0%B6%BB%E0%B6%A7-%E0%B6%B6%E0%B7%83%E0%B 6%AD/1-665910

Don't deport Rohingyas... (2025, January 10). Daily Mirror.

https://www.dailymirror.lk/caption-story/Don-t-deport-Rohingyas/110-299857

Dy. Minister assures no foreign access to SL e-NIC. (2025, January 19). *Sunday Observer*. https://www.sundayobserver.lk/2025/01/19/news/43121/dy-minister-assures-no-foreign-a ccess-to-sl-e-nic/

EU observers hail Sri Lanka's democratic milestone. (2025, January 18). Daily FT.

https://www.ft.lk/news/EU-observers-hail-Sri-Lanka-s-democratic-milestone/56-771907

*European Union praises presidential election: Calls for repeal of Prevention of Terrorism Act.* (2025, November 18). Tamilwin.

https://tamilwin.com/article/demand-to-repeal-the-terrorism-prohibition-act-1737186440

Eye surgery complications at Nuwara Eliya Hospital: Compensation for 17 patients. (2025, January 7). *Sunday Times*.

False news warning : SJB condemns Minister's 'Threat'. (2025, January 4). Newswire.

https://www.newswire.lk/2025/01/04/false-news-warning-sjb-condemns-ministers-threat/

Famous 2021 quarantine case : 34 including Stalin released. (2025, January 6).

https://www.newswire.lk/2025/01/06/famous-2021-quarantine-case-34-including-stalin-rel eased/

The fate of a woman at the Tamil area police station. (2025, JAnuary 9). Tamilwin. https://tamilwin.com/article/woman-been-harassed-in-periya-neelawanai-police-1736378 789

Fazal, S. (2025, January 3). Govt. considers deporting Rohingya refugees at this point: Minister. *Daily Mirror*.

https://www.dailymirror.lk/breaking-news/Govt-considers-deporting-Rohingya-refugees-at -this-point-Minister/108-299359

15 வருடமாக இராணுவத்தின் வசமுள்ள வவுனியா கூட்டுறவு பயிற்சி

நிலையத்தை விடுவிக்க இராணுவம் இணக்கம். (2025, January 24). Tamilwin. https://tamilwin.com/article/army-agrees-to-release-vavuniya-training-center-1737689494

Gamage, B. M. (2025, January 9). ආගමන ව්ගමනය 'නෝ කෝල්' පිළිවතෙක: මාධ්යවේදීහු මානව හිමිකම යති. Mawbima.

https://mawbima.lk/2025/01/09/complaint-by-journalists-against-immigration-and-emigration-department-officials/

Gamage, B. M. (2025, January 28). 'අරගලකරූවන්ට එරහි නඩුවලට සාධාරණ විසඳුමක් දනෙවා'- ඇමති නලින්ද. *Mawbima*.

https://mawbima.lk/2025/01/28/minister-nalinda-says-that-a-fair-solution-will-be-given-tothe-cases-against-the-aragalaya-activists/ Govt. approves compensation for 17 patients blinded after cataract surgery. (2025, January 8).

Daily FT.

https://www.ft.lk/news/Govt-approves-compensation-for-17-patients-blinded-after-catarac t-surgery/56-771530

Govt. criticised for plan to deport Rohingya refugees. (2025, January 9). *The Island*. https://island.lk/govt-criticised-for-plan-to-deport-rohingya-refugees/

Govt. to deport Rohingya people if they are victims of human trafficking. (2025, January 9). *Daily FT*.

https://www.ft.lk/news/Govt-to-deport-Rohingya-people-if-they-are-victims-of-human-trafficking/56-771619

Govt warns local newspaper over false reports. (2025, January 3). Newswire.

https://www.newswire.lk/2025/01/03/govt-warns-local-newspaper-over-false-reports/

Govt will amend and implement Economic Transformation Act - President. (2025, January 28).

Ada Derana. https://www.adaderana.lk/news.php?nid=105350

Grenade in All Saints Church, Borella: Catholics demand justice. (2025, January 15). *The Island*. https://island.lk/grenade-in-all-saints-church-borella-catholics-demand-justice/

Human Rights Commission of Sri Lanka. (2025, January). REPORT ON THE STATUS OF

ROHINGYA ASYLUM SEEKERS DETAINED IN MULLAITIVU, AND RELATED ISSUES. Human Rights Commission of Sri Lanka.

https://www.hrcsl.lk/wp-content/uploads/2025/01/HRCSL-Report-on-Rohingya-Asylum-S eekers\_January-2025.pdf

Is bomber still at large? (2025, January 12). Daily Mirror.

https://www.dailymirror.lk/caption-story/ls-bomber-still-at-large/110-299973

IUSF protest in Colombo today : Court order. (2025, January 8). Newswire.

https://www.newswire.lk/2025/01/08/iusf-protest-in-colombo-today-court-order/

IUSF protests defy court order in Colombo. (2025, January 8). Daily Mirror.

https://www.dailymirror.lk/caption-story/IUSF-protests-defy-court-order-in-Colombo/110-2 99714

Jaffna Uni. lecturers strike. (2025, January 29). the morning.

https://www.themorning.lk/articles/sS02R9TxMAI6sDC12iSU

Jayakody, L. (2025, January 9). චකේ ප**ොයින්ට් යළි එනවාට යාපනය**ේ ව්රෝධය. *Mawbima*. https://mawbima.lk/2025/01/09/opposition-to-check-points-in-jaffna/

Jayakody, L. (2025, January 21). 'සිංහල අවුරුද්දට කලින් ද**ේශපාලන සිරකරුවන් නිදහස්** න**ොකළොත් හර්තාලයක්'- උනුර**ේ පක්ෂ කියයි. *Mawbima*.

https://mawbima.lk/2025/01/21/if-the-political-prisoners-are-not-released-there-will-be-ahartal-northern-parties-say/

Jayammanne, D. (2025, January 22). Govt to Use PTA 'very carefully'– Bimal. *Ceylon Today*. https://ceylontoday.lk/2025/01/22/govt-to-use-pta-very-carefully-bimal/

Jayawardana, S. (2025, January 19). Minister assures no foreign access to data in digital ID initiative. *Minister assures no foreign access to data in digital ID initiative*. https://www.sundaytimes.lk/250119/news/minister-assures-no-foreign-access-to-data-indigital-id-initiative-585125.html

Jayawardena, M. (2025, January 1). Committee appointed to amend Anti-Corruption Act. *Ceylon Today*.

https://ceylontoday.lk/2025/01/01/committee-appointed-to-amend-anti-corruption-act/

Jayawardhana, M. (2025, January 15). New Statistics Act being drafted– Seneviratne. *Ceylon Today*. https://ceylontoday.lk/2025/01/15/new-statistics-act-being-drafted-seneviratne/ Journalists for Democracy in Sri Lanka (JDS). (2025, January 30). X.

https://x.com/JDSLanka/status/1884905979621277861

Kuruluwansha, A. (2025, January 22). Daulagala Chief Police Inspector suspended, two others transferred. *Daily News*.

https://www.dailynews.lk/2025/01/22/lawnorder/708658/daulagala-chief-police-inspectorsuspended-two-others-transferred/

Kuruneru, P. (2025, January 9). මේ හදන්න ේ වාර පරීක්ෂණ කඩාකප්පල් කරන්න උපකුලපති ජ්යෂේඨ මහාචාර්ය කනත්තගෙොඩ ස්දධාරතන නාහිම්. *Divaina*.

https://divaina.lk/%e0%b7%83%e0%b6%ad%e0%b7%8a%e0%b6%ba%e0%b6%9c%e 0%b7%8a%e0%b6%bb%e0%b7%84%e0%b6%ba-%e0%b6%b8%e0%b7%99%e0%b7 %84%e0%b7%99%e0%b6%ba%e0%b7%80%e0%b6%b1-%e0%b6%b4%e0%b7%92% e0%b6%bb%e0%b7%92/

Kuruneru, P. (2025, January 13). ඒකාධිපති උපකුලපති එපා – උපවාසය අත්හරින්න**ේ නෑ – ශ්රී ලංකා** හික්ෂූ ව්ශ්වව්දයාලයීය ශිෂ්ය සංගමය. *Divaina*.

https://divaina.lk/%E0%B6%92%E0%B6%9A%E0%B7%8F%E0%B6%B0%E0%B7%92 %E0%B6%B4%E0%B6%AD%E0%B7%92-%E0%B6%8B%E0%B6%B4%E0%B6%9A% E0%B7%94%E0%B6%BD%E0%B6%B4%E0%B6%AD%E0%B7%92-%E0%B6%91%E 0%B6%B4%E0%B7%8F-%E0%B6%8B%E0%B6%B4/

Kuruneru, P. (2025, January 13). මහෝපාධානයන් අත්තතෝමතික නැ- වැඩකර ඇත්තේ පාලක මණ්ඩල තිරණවලට අනුවයි – නියංග**ොඩ ව්පිතසිරි නාහිම්**. *Divaina*.

https://divaina.lk/%e0%b6%b8%e0%b7%84%e0%b7%9d%e0%b6%b4%e0%b7%8f%e0 %b6%b0%e0%b7%8a%e0%b6%ba%e0%b7%8f%e0%b6%ba%e0%b6%b1%e0%b7%8 a-%e0%b6%85%e0%b6%ad%e0%b7%8a%e0%b6%ad%e0%b6%b1%e0%b7%9d%e0 %b6%b8%e0%b6%ad%e0%b7%92/

Kuruneru, P., & Perera, M.M.P.G. (2025, January 9). අනුරාධපුර හික්ෂු ව්ශ්වව්ද්යාලයේ උපකුලපති හිම්ට ඉල්ලා අස්වනේතැයි සත්යග්රහයක්. *Divaina*.

https://divaina.lk/%e0%b6%85%e0%b6%b1%e0%b7%94%e0%b6%bb%e0%b7%8f%e0 %b6%b0%e0%b6%b4%e0%b7%94%e0%b6%bb-%e0%b6%b7%e0%b7%92%e0%b6% 9a%e0%b7%8a%e0%b7%82%e0%b7%94-%e0%b7%80%e0%b7%92%e0%b7%81%e 0%b7%8a%e0%b7%80%e0%b7%80/ Lanka Files. (2025, January 3). *Destroying agricultural land is development?* X. https://x.com/lankafiles/status/1875233164110762412

Lanka Files. (2025, January 27). *Tamil MP's privilege breached; govt seeks report from immigration department*. medium.

https://lankafiles.medium.com/tamil-mps-privilege-breached-govt-seeks-report-from-immi gration-department-9b47d898073c

- Leasing payers rally against unlawful vehicle seizures. (2025, January 31). *Daily Mirror*. https://www.dailymirror.lk/caption-story/Leasing-payers-rally-against-unlawful-vehicle-sei zures/110-301413
- Lectures suspended as Jaffna Uni. teachers launch strike action. (2025, January 28). Ada Derana. https://www.adaderana.lk/news.php?nid=105319
- Letter from Free Media Movement to IGP. (2025, January 5). Lanka Leader.

https://lankaleader.lk/news/11546-letter-from-the-free-media-movement-to-igp

*LG elections in April – Minister confirms*. (2025, January 28). Ada Derana.

https://www.adaderana.lk/news.php?nid=105335

- Local council elections 2025 : Probable timeline revealed. (2025, January 27). Newswire. https://www.newswire.lk/2025/01/27/local-council-elections-2025-probable-timeline-revea led/
- Madusanka, R. (2025, January 28). Jaffna University academic staff on strike. *Daily Mirror*. https://www.dailymirror.lk/breaking-news/Jaffna-University-academic-staff-on-strike/108-301139
- Madusanka, R. (2025, January 29). Academic staff of Jaffna uni resort to strike action. *Daily Mirror*.

https://www.dailymirror.lk/print/news/Academic-staff-of-Jaffna-uni-resort-to-strike-action/2 39-301219 Magistrate condemns inhumane treatment of remanded suspects: Orders end to shackling in Open Court. (2025, January 2). *Daily Mirror*.

https://www.dailymirror.lk/breaking-news/Magistrate-condemns-inhumane-treatment-of-r emanded-suspects-Orders-end-to-shackling-in-Open-Court/108-299335

Medirigiriya OIC arrested for sexual harassment of WPC. (2025, January 31). Ada Derana. https://www.adaderana.lk/news.php?nid=105431

Mohan, S. R. (2025, January 30). Notice issued on Unemployed Graduates' Association Leader. Notice issued on Unemployed Graduates' Association Leader.

https://ceylontoday.lk/2025/01/30/notice-issued-on-unemployed-graduates-association-le ader/

Nanayakkara, H. (2025, January 23). පූපිත් ජයසුන්දර හා හේමසිරි ප්රතාත්දුට එරහේ පාස්කු ඉරිදා ප්රහාර නඩුව යළි විභාගයට: ශ්රේෂ්ඨාධිකරණය දන්වයි. *Mawbima*.

https://mawbima.lk/2025/01/23/easter-sunday-attack-case-against-pujith-and-hemasiri-to -be-heard-again/

- New year, same struggle for Tamil families of disappeared. (2025, January 7). Tamil Guardian. https://www.tamilguardian.com/content/new-year-same-struggle-tamil-families-disappear ed
- Office of the Cabinet of Ministers, Sri Lanka. (2024, 12 30). *Amendment to the Anti-Corruption Act, No.9 of 2023*. Cabinet Office.

https://www.cabinetoffice.gov.lk/cab/index.php?option=com\_content&view=article&id=16 &Itemid=49&lang=en&dID=12971

Office of the Cabinet of Ministers, Sri Lanka. (2025, January 06). *Amendment to the Criminal Procedure Act, No.15 of 1979.* Cabinet Office.

https://www.cabinetoffice.gov.lk/cab/index.php?option=com\_content&view=article&id=16 &Itemid=49&Iang=en&dID=12980 The Official Government News Portal of Sri Lanka. (2025, January 23). *Legislative measures* will be taken to address the issues faced by Veddas- the indigenous community in Sri Lanka in the next three months, news.lk.

https://www.news.lk/current-affairs/legislative-measures-will-be-taken-to-address-the-iss ues-faced-by-veddas-the-indigenous-community-in-sri-lanka-in-the-next-three-months

Pastor Jerome's question. (2025, January 26). the morning.

https://www.themorning.lk/articles/mBgfs277dDUdOqwjPsie

Perera, B. S. (2025, January 10). Protesters demand justice for Rohingya refugees. *Protesters demand justice for Rohingya refugees*.

https://ceylontoday.lk/2025/01/10/protesters-demand-justice-for-rohingya-refugees/

Perera, M. (2025, January 26). Local Government Elections: Gearing for polls in April. *Local Government Elections: Gearing for polls in April*.

https://www.themorning.lk/articles/n4pKOfrAv08mVtMcsKeZ

Perera, S. (2025, January 6). ජන මාධ්ය ඇමතිවරයාගේ මාධ්ය තර්ජනය සජබය හළො දකී. *Mawbima*.

https://mawbima.lk/2025/01/06/sjb-condemns-the-media-threat-of-the-mass-media-minis ter/

Perera, Y. (2025, January 12). Catholic Church demands a fresh probe on All saints Church "bomb drama". *Daily Mirror*.

https://www.dailymirror.lk/breaking-news/Catholic-Church-demands-a-fresh-probe-on-Allsaints-Church-bomb-drama/108-299985

*PM's FR petition against attack on peaceful protest in 2023 fixed for April 3.* (2025, January 31). Daily News.

https://www.dailynews.lk/2025/01/31/lawnorder/714856/pms-fr-petition-against-attack-on -peaceful-protest-in-2023-fixed-for-april-3/ Police introduce Tip Line for anonymous reporting. (2025, January 31). Newswire.

https://www.newswire.lk/2025/01/31/police-introduce-tip-line-for-anonymous-reporting/#: ~:text=The%20Sri%20Lanka%20Police%20have,networks%2C%20and%20other%20ille gal%20operations

Police launch 1997 hotline for anonymous crime reporting. (2025, January 31). Hirunews. https://www.hirunews.lk/english/395364/police-launch-1997-hotline-for-anonymous-crime -reporting

Preparation of Cabinet paper abolishing PTA in motion. (2025, January 23). Lanka News Web. https://lankanewsweb.net/archives/68701/preparation-of-cabinet-paper-abolishing-pta-inmotion/

Prime Minister's Office. (2025, January 4). *Response to Allegations Regarding the Cancellation* of the IYSSE Lecture at Peradeniya University. Prime Minister's Office.

https://www.pmoffice.gov.lk/news.php?para=RU5vekFVR2dpQTd2VGRiMkZUNE4wQnJ

QbINIbzhBWGc1dVdENWVrVIVLT0ZZdUMxVTBVajQ5dGo0YzlaRnJLQg==

Prisoner wellbeing needs more focus. (2025, January 4). Daily FT.

https://www.ft.lk/ft\_view\_\_editorial/Prisoner-wellbeing-needs-more-focus/58-771365

Prof. Udagama condemns Peradeniya Uni ban on IMF austerity programme lecture. (2025,

January 6). The Island.

https://island.lk/prof-udagama-condemns-peradeniya-uni-ban-on-imf-austerity-programm e-lecture/

Protest against selling off state hospitals to private medical colleges... (2025, January 15). Daily Mirror.

https://www.dailymirror.lk/caption-story/Protest-against-selling-off-state-hospitals-to-priva te-medical-colleges/110-300166

Ratugamage, D. (2025, January 31). Police petition Jaffna Magistrate to prevent disruptions in Jaffna during President's visit today.

52

https://island.lk/police-petition-jaffna-magistrate-to-prevent-disruptions-in-jaffna-during-pr esidents-visit-on-today/

Rishad asks AKD to grant refugee status to Rohingyas. (2025, January 8). *The Island*. https://island.lk/rishad-asks-akd-to-grant-refugee-status-to-rohingyas/

SAMARAWICKRAMA, C. P. (2025, January 23). Proposal to standardise marriage age in Sri Lanka. *Daily Mirror*.

https://www.dailymirror.lk/breaking-news/Proposal-to-standardise-marriage-age-in-Sri-La nka/108-300745

SC concludes hearing into Local Authorities Elections Bill. (2025, January 28). *Daily News*. https://www.dailynews.lk/2025/01/28/local/712403/sc-concludes-hearing-into-local-author ities-elections-bill/

SC concludes hearing petition against pastor Jerome. (2025, January 25). *Daily News*. https://www.dailynews.lk/2025/01/25/lawnorder/710892/sc-concludes-hearing-petition-ag ainst-pastor-jerome/

Seneviratne, S. (2025, January 22). Abduction of schoolgirl: Actg. OIC Daulagala Police interdicted. *Daily Mirror*.

https://www.dailymirror.lk/breaking-news/Abduction-of-schoolgirl-Actg-OIC-Daulagala-Pol ice-interdicted/108-300668

SIRIWARDANA, A. (2025, January 28). Cases filed against Aragalaya activists; Govt. to provide reasonable solution: Minister.

https://www.dailymirror.lk/breaking-news/Cases-filed-against-Aragalaya-activists-Govt-toprovide-reasonable-solution-Minister/108-301163

Siriwardana, A., & Perera, Y. (2025, January 8). 100,000 illegal migrants could arrive in Sri
Lanka in the coming days: Public Security Minister. *Daily Mirror*.
https://www.dailymirror.lk/breaking-news/100-000-illegal-migrants-could-arrive-in-Sri-Lan
ka-in-the-coming-days-Public-Security-Minister/108-299722

Siriwardana, A., & Perera, Y. (2025, January 21). PTA needs to be used carefully until new Act is enacted: Bimal. *Daily Mirror*.

https://www.dailymirror.lk/print/breaking-news/PTA-needs-to-be-used-carefully-until-new-Act-is-enacted-Bimal/108-300561

SOORIYAGODA, L. (2025, January 18). AG assures Supreme Court of review on unaddressed complaints in Pastor Jerome hate speech case. *Daily Mirror*.

https://www.dailymirror.lk/top-story/AG-assures-Supreme-Court-of-review-on-unaddresse d-complaints-in-Pastor-Jerome-hate-speech-case/155-300399

Sri Lanak Collective Against Torture. (2025, January 23). *Police Brutality Alleged: Weligama Resident Beaten and Falsely Charged During Arrest.* SLCAT.

https://www.slcat.org/police-brutality-alleged-weligama-resident-beaten-and-falsely-charg ed-during-arrest/

Sri Lankan Collective Against Torture. (2025, January 22). Colombo Court Issues Notice to Dematagoda Police OIC Over Alleged Torture Incident. SLCAT.

https://www.slcat.org/colombo-court-issues-notice-to-dematagoda-police-oic-over-allege d-torture-incident/

Sri Lankans rally to stop deportation of Rohingya refugees to Myanmar. (2025, January 12).

Ada Derana. https://www.adaderana.lk/news.php?nid=104921

Sri Lanka's proceeds of crime bill to be presented to parliament. (2025, January 21).

Economynext.

https://economynext.com/sri-lankas-proceeds-of-crime-bill-to-be-presented-to-parliament -200685/

Stalin et al. released from quarantine protest case. (2025, January 7).

https://www.themorning.lk/articles/DEaAAjztC8P8XWOo5vY5

Sukinthan, T. (2025, January 30). Jaffna court grants permission for peaceful protest during President's visit. *Daily Mirror*. https://www.dailymirror.lk/breaking-news/Jaffna-court-grants-permission-for-peaceful-prot est-during-Presidents-visit/108-301345

Sukinthan, T. (2025, December 31). Unemployed graduates plan for protest during President's visit to Jaffna. *Daily Mirror*.

https://www.dailymirror.lk/front-page/Unemployed-graduates-plan-for-protest-during-Pres idents-visit-to-Jaffna/238-301395

*Tamil families of the disappeared appeal to incoming US administration*. (2025, January 16). Tamil Guardian.

https://www.tamilguardian.com/content/tamil-families-disappeared-appeal-incoming-us-a dministration

Tamil families of the disappeared appeal to incoming US administration. (2025, January 16).

Tamil Guardian.

https://www.tamilguardian.com/content/tamil-families-disappeared-appeal-incoming-us-a dministration

*Tamil journalist attacked for exposing corruption.* (2025, January 16). Tamil Guardian.

https://www.tamilguardian.com/content/tamil-journalist-attacked-exposing-corruption

*Tamils in Trincomalee protest against Sinhalisation.* (2025, January 8). Tamil Guardian.

https://www.tamilguardian.com/content/tamils-trincomalee-protest-against-sinhalisation

Tamils protest against Sri Lanka's plan to deport Rohingya refugees. (2025, January 9). Tamil Guardian.

https://www.tamilguardian.com/content/tamils-protest-against-sri-lankas-plan-deport-rohingya-refugees

*Tamil unemployed graduates protest as Sri Lankan president visits Jaffna*. (2025, January 31). Tamil Guardian.

https://www.tamilguardian.com/content/tamil-unemployed-graduates-protest-sri-lankan-p resident-visits-jaffna

- Tamil unemployed graduates sweep roads in protests. (2025, January 16). Tamil Guardian. https://www.tamilguardian.com/index.php/content/tamil-unemployed-graduates-sweep-ro ads-protests
- Thajudeen, F. (2025, January 9). Gnanasara Thera sentenced to 9 months imprisonment. *Daily Mirror*.

https://www.dailymirror.lk/breaking-news/Gnanasara-Thera-sentenced-to-9-months-impri sonment/108-299776

Thajudeen, T. F. (2025, January 10). Gnanasara Thera sentenced to nine months for defamatory remarks on Islam. *Daily FT*.

https://www.ft.lk/news/Gnanasara-Thera-sentenced-to-nine-months-for-defamatory-rema rks-on-Islam/56-771647

Tharaka, D. (2025, January 23). Court informs Hemasiri, Pujith of SC order of overturning HC's judgement and recommencing trial. *Daily News*. https://www.dailynews.lk/2025/01/23/lawnorder/709519/court-informs-hemasiri-pujith-of-s

c-order-of-overturning-hcs-judgement-and-recommencing-trial/#google\_vignette

Withanage, A. (2025, January 17). පොලිසියේ වැරදි '1997'ට කියන්න. Mawbima.

https://mawbima.lk/2025/01/17/a-phone-number-to-report-the-mistakes-of-police-officers/

- Withanage, A. (2025, January 31). 'උනුර ේ ඉඩම ගැටලුව කඩිනම විසඳනවා'- ජනපති. *Mawbima*. https://mawbima.lk/2025/01/31/peoples-land-should-rightfully-belong-to-them/
- WPC proposes a common minimum age for marriage. (2025, January 23). *Ceylon Today*. https://ceylontoday.lk/2025/01/23/wpc-proposes-a-common-minimum-age-for-marriage/